047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,647

FILED

DEC 19 1997

PHILIP GOODE VON EIFF and CHERYL GOODE VON EIFF,

Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clark

VS.

LEONOR AZICRI and ROBERTO AZICRI,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS' ON THE MERITS

ROBERT S. GEIGER, ESQUIRE
JONATHAN A. HELLER, ESQUIRE
AVI J. LITWIN, ESQUIRE
GEIGER, KASDIN, HELLER,
KUPERSTEIN, CHAMES & WEIL, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioners
1428 Brickell Avenue
6th Floor
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 372-5000

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioners, PHILIP GOODE VON EIFF and CHERYL GOODE VON EIFF, will be individually referred to as "PHILIP" and "CHERYL" and will be collectively referred to as the "Petitioners" or the "Parents." The minor child, KELLY GOODE VON EIFF, will be referred to as "KELLY." The Respondents, LEONOR AZICRI and ROBERTO AZICRI, will be collectively referred to as the "Respondents" or the "Grandparents." LUISA VON EIFF will be referred to as "LUISA".

The symbols "R" and "T" will be used to refer to portions of the record on appeal and transcripts of the lower court's proceedings, respectively. The symbol "A" will be used to designate the Appendix to Petitioners' Brief, which is comprised of the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioners, PHILIP GOODE VON EIFF and CHERYL GOODE VON EIFF, are the parents of KELLY GOODE VON EIFF. PHILIP is KELLY's biological father. Following her marriage to PHILIP, CHERYL legally adopted KELLY on October 5, 1994. KELLY's natural mother, LUISA, died from cancer in December of 1993 when KELLY was two years old. The Respondents, LEONOR AZICRI and ROBERTO AZICRI, are LUISA's parents and KELLY's maternal grandparents (R. 1-4, 15-22).

On December 15, 1994, the AZICRIS filed a Petition seeking grandparent visitation pursuant to §752.01(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). (R. 1). PHILIP and CHERYL responded by asserting, *inter alia*, that the nature and extent of visitation sought by the grandparents was not, in their opinion, in KELLY's best interests and directly challenged the constitutionality of Florida's Grandparent Visitation Statute. (R. 15-22).

It is undisputed that PHILIP and CHERYL were unified, at all times, in their opposition to the <u>unsupervised</u> visitation sought by the AZICRIS.¹ (Tr. July 15, 1996, p. 83, 95, 96, 101, 104; August 21, 1996, p. 180-181, 183, 186-187). They feared that the AZICRIS' lack of respect for their parental judgment coupled with the hostility shown toward both of them would negatively impact on their child. (Tr. of July 15, 1996, p. 104; August 21, 1996, p. 183, 186).

On November 13, 1996, the lower court entered its Final Order finding, *inter alia*, that the Petitioners were <u>loving</u>, <u>nurturing</u> and <u>fit</u> as parents of the minor child. (R. 344-46). Without any

During the pendency of the lower court proceeding and due, in part, to the anxiety of this litigation, PHILIP and CHERYL separated and remained separated up to the point when the lower court rendered its order. Despite their separation, the GOODE VON EIFFS remained and remain united in their opposition to KELLY'S unsupervised visitation with the grandparents. Goode Von Eiff v. Azicri, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2176 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

showing of harm to KELLY absent such visitation, the trial court granted the grandparents' petition and awarded visitation that (a) excluded the parents after only eight (8) weeks from the inception of the visitation schedule without any input from a mental health professional; (b) allowed the grandparents to enjoy overnight visitation excluding the parents; and (c) afforded the grandparents the unilateral right to decide with whom the minor child may associate during such visitation without regard to the parents' wishes. The Final Judgment also contained provisions mandating the parents to prepare Friday night dinners for the grandparents to facilitate visitation and compelled additional visitation on certain Jewish holidays. (R. 344-46).

On November 25, 1996, the parents filed a Notice of Appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 337-340). On September 17, 1997, the Third District Court of Appeal issued its Opinion affirming that part of the lower tribunal's Order permitting visitation by the grandparents under §752.01(1)(a), Florida Statutes, but reversed and remanded the case to the lower tribunal to reconsider the extent and scope of what constitutes reasonable visitation under the circumstances in this case. In arriving at its determination, the Third District upheld the constitutionality of §752.01(1)(a) and concluded that the demonstrable harm requirement² only applied to the limited class of families consisting of two natural parents. Due to the important and sensitive family law issues involved, the Third District certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

May the State constitutionally allow reasonable grandparent visitation where one or both parents of the child are deceased and visitation is

² See Beagle v. Beagle, 678 So. 2d 1271 (Fla. 1996) (where this Court held section 752.01(1)(a) unconstitutionally infringed on the privacy rights of the parents because it failed to require a showing of harm to the child who was living in an intact family having two living parents).

determined to be in the best interests of the child?³

Goode Von Eiff v. Azicri, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2176 (Fla. 3rd DCA September 17, 1997).4

In stark conflict to the Third District's opinion, approximately one week after the <u>Goode Von Eiff</u> decision was issued, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held, in a case consisting of similar facts to the case at bar, that §752.01(1)(a) was unconstitutional. <u>Fitts v. Poe</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2265 (Fla. 5th DCA September 26, 1997).

Thereafter, on October 15, 1997, the parents timely filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court, pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and (v), Fla. R. App. P., to review the certified question and the express and direct conflict between <u>Goode Von Eiff</u> and <u>Fitts</u> on the same issue of law.

³ In her scholarly dissenting opinion, Judge Melvia Green suggested a rephrased certified question that more accurately reflects the dispositive issue for this Court's ultimate decision:

Are Sections 752.01(1)(a)-(d), Florida Statutes (1995), facially unconstitutional because they constitute impermissible state interference with parental rights protected by either Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution or the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

⁴ Judge Green also concluded that the Grandparent Visitation Statute is facially unconstitutional under Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution as well as the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

Florida's grandparent visitation statute, §752.01(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993), violates Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution. Article I, Section 23 provides greater privacy protection than the United States Constitution. Thus, parents have a fundamental and constitutional privacy right in raising their children without undue state interference. To intrude upon this right, the State action must serve a compelling interest through the least intrusive means. The compelling state interest must involve the prevention of harm to the child. Since §752.01(1) (a) permits the State to interfere with the parents' constitutional privacy rights without a demonstration of harm to the child, it is unconstitutional. Further, the promotion of litigation, possibly directly involving the child, is not the least intrusive means to any purported State interest. Accordingly, the Final Judgment must be reversed because this statute is facially unconstitutional under Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution.

Florida Statute §752.01(1)(a) also violates the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Under the Federal Constitution, parents have a liberty and privacy interest in the care, custody and management of their children. To permit any governmental interference into these rights, there must be a powerful countervailing interest. The United States Supreme Court has interpreted this interest to mean that there must first be a showing of harm to the child as a result of the parents' decision. Accordingly, because §752.01(1)(a) allows the State to intrude upon the parents' rights to raise their children without any demonstration of harm, it unconstitutionally violates the Fourteenth Amendment.

Section 752.01(1)(a) is further constitutionally flawed on grounds that it violates one's right to equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment. The Petitioners argue that there should be no distinction concerning the granting or denial of grandparent visitation rights between an intact marriage where one parent objects to visitation to a case where one parent has died and the surviving parent, either individually or together with a new adoptive parent, objects to visitation. In view of this Court's finding of §752.01(1)(e) unconstitutional, the statute now insinuates that a widowed, divorced, remarried or unmarried parent is less fit than a married parent to raise his or her own child. Accordingly, the Statute is facially unconstitutional and should be struck down for treating similarly situated parents differently.

The relationship between an adoptive parent and child is no less sacred than a relationship between the natural parent and child, and that relationship is entitled to the same protection. In view of this Court's recent holding in Beagle v. Beagle, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996), there are no grounds by which grandparent visitation is lawfully authorized in a case where the child has a natural parent and an adoptive parent since, by definition, that family unit constitutes an intact family, upon which grandparents, since Beagle, have no legal right for visitation with the grandchildren. Certainly, the importance this Court attached to the sanctity of the family unit in Beagle should apply equally to the case of PHILIP, the natural father, and CHERYL, the adoptive mother, who are entitled to the same constitutional protection of their parental rights. Neither §752.01(1)(a) or §752.01(1)(e) addresses the situation of an intact family consisting of a natural parent and an adoptive parent. Since adoptive parents are entitled to the same constitutional protection of parenting decisions as natural parents, this Court must extend its holding in Beagle to the factual scenario described herein on the basis that, for all legal purposes and proceedings, KELLY is no longer the child of a deceased parent.

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN HOLDING §752.01(1)(a), FLA. STAT. (1993), CONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT CONSTITUTES AN IMPERMISSIBLE STATE INTERFERENCE WITH FUNDAMENTAL PARENTAL RIGHTS PROTECTED BY THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

The Petitioners argue that §752.01(1)(a) of the Grandparent Visitation Statute should be held unconstitutional as violating their right to privacy as guaranteed under Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. A parent has the right to raise a child free from governmental interferences as long as the parent is fit and the child is not in danger of substantial harm. Further, a parent has the right to define the family as he or she pleases, and not according to the State's conception of what constitutes a "proper" family. The recognition of this right certainly justifies a presumption that a child's mother⁵ and father together will act in a child's best interests. As such, section 752.01(1)(a) interferes with Petitioners' parental rights regarding the custody, care and management of their child by allowing a court to award grandparent visitation over their objections.

⁵ The legal ramification of KELLY's adoption by her stepmother is that for all legal purposes and proceedings, KELLY is no longer the child of a deceased parent. <u>Goode Von Eiff v. Azicri</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2176 (Fla. 3rd DCA September 17, 1997). See §63.172, Fla. Stat. (1996) <u>Korbin v. Ginsberg</u>, 232 So.2d 417, 418 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970) ("A judgment or decree of adoption establishes the relationship of parent and child to the same extent as though the child had been born to such parent in lawful wedlock."); <u>Lee v. Kepler</u>, 197 So. 2d 570, 573 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967) ("The result of the adoption by the stepmother was to place the adopted child as far as possible in the same position as the natural child to all intents and purposes.").

A. Florida's Grandparent Visitation Statute

The present grandparent visitation statute, §752.01(1), grants any grandparent the right to seek visitation when it is in the best interests of the child if:

- (a) One or both parents of the child are deceased;
- (b) The marriage of the parents of the child has been dissolved;
- (c) A parent of the child has deserted the child;
- (d) The minor child was born out of wedlock and not later determined to be a child born within wedlock as provided in s.742.091; or
- (e) The minor is living with both natural parents who are still married to each other whether or not there is a broken relationship between either or both parents of the minor child and the grandparents, and either or both parents have used their parental authority to prohibit a relationship between the minor child and the grandparents.⁶

Fla. Stat. §752.01(1) (a)-(e) (1993).

While the Petitioners appreciate the laudable legislative motives for the enactment of §752.01 in its present form, the statute, however, is nevertheless facially unconstitutional. Since §752.01(1)(a) requires no showing of demonstrable harm to a child prior to the imposition of forced grandparent visitation, it violates the parents' rights under Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution as well as the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

B. Section 752.01(1)(a), Fla. Stat., Violates Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution

Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution states that, except as otherwise provided,

⁶ This Court held subsection (e) unconstitutional. <u>Beagle v. Beagle</u>, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996).

"[e]very natural person has the right to be left alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life. . . ." This Court, in Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So. 2d 544, 546-548 (Fla. 1985), has held that this "right of privacy is a fundamental right" which "is much broader in scope then that of the Federal Constitution", and provided a concise background of the significance of the right of privacy of Floridians.

The concept of privacy or right to be left alone is deeply rooted in our heritage and it is founded upon historical notions and federal constitutional expressions of ordered liberty. Justice Brandeis, sometimes called the father of the idea of privacy, recognized this fundamental right of privacy when he wrote:

The makers of our Constitution undertook to secure conditions favorable to the pursuit of happiness. They recognized the significance of man's spiritual nature, of his feelings and of his intellect. They sought to protect Americans in their beliefs, their thoughts, their emotions and their sensations. They conferred, as against the Government, the right to be let alone - the most comprehensive of rights and the right most valued by civilized men. Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438, 478, 48 S. Ct. 564, 572, 72 L. Ed. 944 (1928) (Brandeis, J., dissenting).

The United States Supreme Court has fashioned a right of privacy which protects the decision-making or autonomy zone of privacy interests of the individual. The Court's decisions include matters concerning marriage, procreation, contraception, relationships and child rearing, and education.

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). Historically, both Florida Courts and the United States Supreme Court have long recognized the fundamental nature as well as the constitutionally protected rights of parents in the care, custody and management of their children without State interference, except under the most

compelling circumstances.⁷ However, with the enactment of Article I of Section 23, Florida has increased that protection:

The citizens of Florida opted for more protection from governmental intrusion when they approved article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution. This amendment is an independent, freestanding constitutional provision which declares the fundamental right to privacy. Article I, section 23, was intentionally phrased in strong terms. The drafters of the amendment rejected the use of the words "unreasonable" or "unwarranted" before the phrase "governmental intrusion" in order to make the privacy right as strong as possible. Since the people of this state exercised their prerogative and enacted an amendment to the Florida Constitution which expressly and succinctly provides for a strong right of privacy not found in the United States Constitution, it can only be concluded that the right is much broader in scope than that of the Federal Constitution.

We believe that the amendment should be interpreted in accordance with the intent of its drafters. Winfield, supra.

The right of privacy has been implicitly recognized as extending to decisions involving family relationships and raising children. <u>In Re: T.W.</u>, 551 So. 2d 1186, 1191-92 (Fla. 1989). Numerous cases in this state have recognized the fundamental nature of the right of parents to raise their children unfettered by governmental interference, except for the most compelling reasons. <u>In the Interest of D.B.</u>, 385 So. 2d 83, 90 (Fla. 1980)(acknowledging the existence of "fundamental constitutionally protected interest in preserving the family unit and raising one's children"); <u>State v. Reeves</u>, 97 So.

Most often this right has been recognized as subsumed within the concept of "liberty" which is protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Beagle v. Beagle, 654 So. 2d 1260, 1266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

⁷ Judge Webster noted in his concurring opinion in <u>Beagle</u>:

2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1957)(acknowledging "basic proposition that a parent has a natural God given legal right to enjoy the custody, fellowship and companionship of his offspring"); Franklin v. White Egret Condominium, Inc., 358 So. 2d 1084, 1090 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), aff'd. 379 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 1979)(acknowledging that, "[i]n our society the family unit is swathed in the protection of the Constitution, and any substantial interference directly affecting the family must be supported by a countervailing and superior interest"); Foster v. Sharpe, 114 So. 2d 373, 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959) (asserting that, "[t]he right of the parents to the custody, care and upbringing of their children is one of the most basic rights of our civilization"). See also, Padgett v. Dep't of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So. 2d 565, 570 (Fla. 1991)(acknowledging "longstanding and fundamental liberty interests of parents in determining the care and upbringing of their children free from the heavy hand of government paternalism"); In re Dubreuil, 629 So. 2d 819 (Fla. 1993)(where this Court recognized that a constitutionally protected interest exists in preserving the family unit and in raising one's children).

Given the broad rights that the State recognizes in parents, it seems an unassailable proposition that a parent who has neither abused, neglected, or abandoned a child but rather has been found to be loving, nurturing and fit, must then have a reasonable expectation that the state will not interfere with his or her decision to limit a grandparent's access to the child. Moreover, the absence of such intrusions into parental decisions, as shown in the cases cited above, provides stronger support in favor of the reasonableness of the expectation of privacy parents have from court-ordered grandparent visitation. It is, thus, axiomatic that since the parents' authority to raise their children is a basic, fundamental right, it cannot be usurped or impinged upon by the government except when

doing so serves a compelling state interest and accomplishes its goals with the least intrusive means.

Winfield, supra; see Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 113, 155 (1977).

In recognizing the importance of parental rights, this Court has clearly established that a "compelling state interest" is one which involves the prevention of harm to the child, whether by abuse, neglect or abandonment. In re Dureuil, 629 So. 2d 819 (Fla. 1993); In the Interest of E.H., 609 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1992); Padgett, supra. Therefore, there must be a demonstration of harm to the child caused by the parents before the State can interfere into the fundamental right of privacy of the parents. In other words, there must also be an actual threat to the child's physical, emotional or mental well-being prior to the State intruding into the parents' fundamental right. Padgett, supra, at 570. Absent such a demonstration of substantial harm, as in the instant case, the parents' constitutional authority would be usurped in violation of Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution.

As section 752.01 lacks any such requirement, for example, that the parents' decision not to allow the grandparents to visit with the child would substantially harm the child, the statute is unconstitutional in violation of Florida's right to privacy. Although relationships with grandparents can be an enriching and important part of many children's lives, grandparents do not traditionally have the responsibilities and vested interest in the children's development sufficient to make the formation of such relationships a "compelling State interest." Therefore, when a showing of actual or threatened harm is lacking, the State is not justified in acting to promote what it perceives to be in

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