Od 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 91-647

PHILIP GOODE VON EIFF and CHERYL GOODE VON EIFF.

OND A CHARTE

JAN 22 1998

Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Class Dapasy Clerk

VS.

LEONOR AZICRI and ROBERTO AZICRI,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BRENDA B. SHAPIRO, ESQUIRE
44 West Flagler Street
Courthouse Tower, Suite 720
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 577-3861
Florida Bar Number: 880401

and

ALLISON DOLINER HOCKMAN, ESQ. 325 Almeria Avenue
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Telephone: (305) 446-7800
Florida Bar Number: 312673
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The grandparent visitation statute, §752.01(1)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993), is constitutional and must be upheld. Florida has a compelling interest in preserving the familial bond between grandparents and their grandchildren, especially where one or both parents are deceased. The State has the prerogative to safeguard its citizens, particularly children, from potential harm when such harm outweighs the interest of the individual. Chapter 752 focuses on children's welfare regardless of the status of parents. The statute contains the requisite safeguards to preserve the privacy rights of the parents with the statutory rights of the grandparents and the constitutional rights of the minor child.

The Third District, affirming the Trial Court's decision to grant visitation to the grandparents, was correct where there was substantial competent evidence that it was in KELLY's best interest that visitation with the AZICRIS continue. The minor child, KELLY, and the AZICRIS had a significant relationship prior to KELLY's mother's death and expert testimony supported the continuation of their visitations. Only through continued contact with the AZICRIS, can KELLY's statutorily protected link to her past be preserved.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE THIRD DISTRICT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING §752.01(1)(a), FLA. STAT. (1993) CONSTITUTIONAL AS A STATE MAY ALLOW REASONABLE GRANDPARENT VISITATION WHERE ONE OR BOTH PARENTS OF A CHILD ARE DECEASED AND VISITATION IS DETERMINED TO BE IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD.
 - A. FLORIDA'S GRANDPARENTS VISITATION STATUTE.

Grandparents play a special role in the life of a child. If a grandparent is physically, mentally and morally fit, a grandchild will almost always benefit from contact with his or her grandparents. The benefit received from a relationship with grandparents has been documented in psychological studies, finding that children who have close relationships with their grandparents are more comfortable with the elderly and often more emotionally secure than other children.⁴ Recognizing that special circumstances exist where the relationship between grandparent and grandchild is important, prior to statutory enactment, courts carved out an exception to the common-law right of parents to raise their children.⁵ The earliest statutes addressing grandparents' rights deal with the situation here, where a parent died and the living spouse denied the grandparents' visitation. Currently all fifty states have statutes addressing this issue of visitation rights.⁶

⁴ See Rebecca Brown, <u>Grandparent Visitation and the Intact Family</u>, 16 S. ILL.U.L.J. 133 (1991); See Christine Davik-Galbraith "<u>Grandma, Grandpa, Where Are You?</u>", 3 Elder L.J. 143 (1995).

⁵Edward M. Burns, <u>Grandparents Visitation Rights: Is It Time for The Pendulum to Fall?</u>, 25 Fam. L.Q. 59, 61 (1991); <u>Hawkins v. Hawkins</u>, 430 N.E. 2d 652 (III. App.Ct. 1981)(Court justified imposing grandparent visitation in the absence of statutory authority where a grandparent's daily contact with the child following the death of the child's parent.)

⁶ All fifty states have codified similar statutes designed to preserve the rights of grandparents to visit with their grandchildren. ALA. CODE §30-3-4 (Michie 1989 & Supp. 1994); ALASKA STAT. §25.24.150 (Michie 1991); ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. §25-337.01(West Supp. 1994); ARK. CODE ANN. §9-13-103 (Michie 1993); CAL. FAM. CODE §3102 (West 1994); COLO. REV. STAT. §19-1-117 (West 1990); DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 10, §1031 (Michie Supp. 1994); FLA. STAT. ANN 752.01 (West Supp. 1995); GA. CODE ANN. §19-7-3 (Michie Supp. 1994); HAW. REV. STAT. ANN. §571-46.3 9(Michie Supp. 1994); 750 ILL. COMP. STAT. §5/607 (Michie Supp. 1994); IND. CODE ANN. §31-1-11.7-2 (Michie Supp. 1994); IOWA CODE ANN. §598.35 (West Supp. 1994); LA REV. STAT. ANN. §9:344 (West Supp. 1995); ME. REV.

Florida's Grandparent Visitation Statutes, Chapter 752, allows a grandparent to petition for reasonable rights of visitation where the child's parent(s) have objected to visitation, and where their parents have died, divorced, abandoned, or established paternity. The present section of the grandparent visitation statute, Chapter 752, being challenged is:

§752.01(1)(a) which provides that the court shall, upon petition filed by a grandparent of a minor child, award reasonable rights of visitation to the grandparent with respect to the child when it is in the best interest of the minor child if:

(a) One or both the parents of the child are deceased.

STAT. ANN. tit. 19, §1003 (West Supp. 1994); MASS. GEN LAWS. ANN. ch. 119, §39D (Law. Co-op. 1994); MICH. COMP. LAWS. ANN. §722.27b (West 1993); MINN. STAT. ANN. §257.022 (West 1992); MISS. CODE ANN. §93-16-3 (Law. Co-op. 1994); MO. ANN. STAT. §452/402 (West Supp. 1994); NEB. REV. STAT. §43-1802 (1993); NEV. REV. STAT. ANN. §125A.330 (Michie 1993); N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. §458:17-d (Butterworth 1992); N.J. REV. STAT. ANN. §9:2-7.1 (West Supp. 1994); N.M. STAT. ANN. §40-9-2 (Michie 1994); OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §3109.051(Anderson Supp. 1994); 23 PA. CONS. STAT. ANN. §5311 (West 1991); R.I. GEN. LAWS §15-5-24.1 (Michie Supp. 1994); S.D. CODIFIED LAWS ANN. 24-5-54 (1993); TEX. FAM. CODE ANN. §14.03 (West 1986 & Supp. 1995); VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 15, §1012 (Butterworth 1989); W.VA. CODE §48-2B-4 (Michie Supp. 1994); WIS. STAT. ANN. §880.155 (West 1991); WYO. STAT. §20-7-101 (Michie 1994).

⁷§752.01 (1) (e), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993): Authority to petition for visitation in the situation where the minor is living in his or her biological intact family home, and either or both parents have used their parental authority to prohibit a relationship between the minor child and the grandparents, has been held unconstitutional. <u>Beagle v. Beagle</u>, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996).

Other states with this wide-open visitation rights have also found the provision to be unconstitutional solely under circumstances involving an intact family. See <u>Brooks v. Parkerson</u>, 454 S.W.2d 769 (Ga.), <u>cert. denied</u>, ______, 116 S.Ct. 377 (1995); <u>Hawk v. Hawk</u>, 855 S.W.2d 573 (Tenn. 1993); <u>Williams v Williams</u>, 485 S.E.2d 651 (Va. App. 1997). Legal commentators have openly criticized his provision as potentially disruptive of the right of parental supervision over children. See. e.g., Note, <u>Tennessee Statutory Visitation Rights of Grandparents and the Best Interest of the Child</u>, 15 Mem. S.U.L.Rev. 635, 652-3 (1984-5); Bean, <u>Grandparent Visitation: Can the Parent Refuse?</u> 24 U.Louisville J.Fam.L. 393 (1985-6); Burns, <u>Grandparent Visitation Rights: Is It Time for the Pendulum to Fall?</u>, 25 Fam.L.Q. 59, 61 79-80 (Spring 1991); Schoonnaker, Narwold, Hatch & Goldthwaite, <u>Constitutional Issues Raised by Third-Party Access to Children</u>, 25 Fam.L.Q. 95 (Spring 1991); Note, <u>The Constitutional Constraints on Grandparents' Visitation Statutes</u>, 86 Colum.L.Rev. 118 (1986).

In 1978, the Florida Legislature enacted §68.08 Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), the forerunner of the present challenged section. The statute gives courts who are competent to decide child custody matters, jurisdiction to award grandparent visitation rights with the minor child upon the death or desertion of the parent if it is in the best interest of the child. In 1984, the visitation provision was placed in Chapter 752, entitled "Grandparental Visitation Rights" and numbered as it stands. In 1990, the Legislature added the requirement of mediation and six factors before a visitation award can be granted. 8 The Court must determine the standard of "best interest of the minor child" by addressing the willingness of the grandparents to encourage a relationship between the child and the parent; the length and depth of the prior relationship between the child and the grandparent; the preference of the child, if mature enough to express same; the mental and physical health of the child and the grandparents; and such other factors that are necessary in the particular circumstances, demanding a case by case analysis. More important, prior to any court intervention, grandparents and parents are mandated to mediate the dispute, giving the parents full opportunity to voice their own interests. Chapter 752 was amended in 1993, but the challenged provision remained intact.

⁸§752.01 (2), <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u> (Supp 1990) determines best interest of the minor child wherein the court should consider:

(a) The willingness of the grandparent or grandparents to encourage a close relationship between the child and the parent or parents:

⁽b) The length and quality of the prior relationship between the child and the grandparent or grandparents;

⁽c) The preference of the child if the child is determined to be of sufficient maturity to express a preference:

⁽d) The mental and physical health of the child;

⁽e) The mental and physical health of the grandparent or grandparents; or

⁽f) Such other factors as are necessary in the particular circumstances.

^{§752.015, &}lt;u>Fla. Stat.</u> (Supp. 1990) provides for mediation of the visitation disputes once a petition has been filed.

B. §752.01(1)(a), <u>FLA</u>. <u>STAT</u>. (1993) DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE I, SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION NOR THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

It is well established that this Court has a duty to construe §752.01(1)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993) as constitutional if reasonably possible and to resolve all doubts in favor of constitutionality. <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d 1186, 1201 (Fla. 1989); <u>Corn v. State.</u> 332 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1976) It is presumed in enacting the statute, that the Legislature intended constitutionality. <u>In re. T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d at 1202.

PETITIONERS contend that §752.01(1)(a) violates Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution, and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

They argue that the 'best interest of the child' standard of review mandated by the statute is insufficient to prevent infringement upon the fundamental rights of parents to decide with whom their child shall associate. PETITIONERS want this Court to extend the holding in *Beagle v. Beagle*, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996) to prevent Grandparents from petitioning for the right of visitation without first showing substantial harm to the child, regardless of the situation or parent status. RESPONDENTS assert that the well-reasoned opinion of the Third District Court should be affirmed as it accurately articulates the law in Florida, balancing the rights of the parents, the rights of the minor child and the State's compelling interests.

⁹Subjecting §752.01(1)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993) to constitutional scrutiny under the Florida Constitution, Article I, Section 23, which affords its citizens a greater protection of privacy, makes a Federal Constitution examination unnecessary. <u>Beagle</u>, 678 So.2d at 1272.

Whenever a statute intrudes on the right of privacy bestowed by the Florida Constitution, the tensions of individual rights and compelling state interests are weighed and balanced, but must be considered within a specific factual context. In examining the constitutionality of §752.01(1)(a), the majority opinion in Von Eiff v. Azicri, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2176, (Fla. 3d DCA September 17, 1997), recognized the potential conflict between grandparent visitation rights and a parent's constitutional privacy right in directing the upbringing and education of their children without undue government interference. See Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972); Padgett v. Dep't of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla 1991); Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985).10 While the right of privacy of fit parents to raise and educate a child without government interference is protected, the right is not unbridled nor absolute. See Bailey v. Menzie, 542 N.E.2d 1015 (Ind.Ct.App. 1989) The parental right must yield to the State where the State shows compelling reasons to promote the best interest of the child. State ex rel. Sparks v. Reeves, 97 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1957)("The only limitation on the rule that the parent has a legal right to enjoy custody, fellowship and companionship of his offspring is that between a parent and child, the ultimate welfare of the child is controlling.")

The State's interest in protecting children encompasses protection from physical and psychological harm. See <u>Jones v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 1994); <u>Nelson v.</u>

¹⁰Parental rights which are protected to varying degrees by the constitution are the physical possession of a child which in the case of custodial parent, includes day-to-day care and companionship of child; right to discipline child, which includes right to inculcate parent's moral and ethical standards; right to control and manage minor child's earnings; right to control and manage minor child's property; right to be supported by adult child; right to have child bear parent's name; and right to prevent adoption of child without parent's consent. See *Black's Law Dictionary 5th Edition* (1979).

Nelson, 433 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In this vein, the State has permissibly required parents to provide the basic necessities to their children, school, food, clothing, as well as, accept responsibility for compliance with state imposed inoculations, child restraints and curfew hours. See <u>Bollotti v. Baird</u>, 443 U.S. 622, 99 S.Ct. 3035, 61 L.Ed.2d 797 (1979).

Where the intact family is disrupted by death or divorce, the state is historically empowered to protect the interests of those injured by the disruption. See <u>McRae v. McRae</u>, 52 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1951)(courts in dissolution proceedings have the inherent power to protect children and to do all things necessary for the administration of justice); <u>McAlister v. Shaver</u>, 633 So.2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)(discontinuity of parents' relationship allows the court to determine visitation or custody based solely on the child's best interests). "States have a stronger argument for court intervention to protect the extended family when the nuclear family has been dissolved." See Burns, Grandparent Visitation Rights: Is it Time for the Pendulum to Fall? 25 U.Louisville J.Fam.L. 59, 61, 79-80 (1991); <u>Hawk v. Hawk</u>, 855 S.W.2d 573 (Tenn.1993) The documented findings of harm which occurs to a child upon the death of a parent is clearly demonstrated in the

Third District Court opinion of <u>Von Eiff v Azicri</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 2177¹¹ Thus, the death of a parent is <u>prima facie</u> evidence of harm to the minor child.

Recognizing the harm experienced by the child upon the death of a parent, the current statute was designed to protect the interests of children in disrupted families by preserving beneficial grandparent visitation. In striking down §752.01(1)(e), this Court in *Beagle v. Beagle*, 678 So.2d at 1272, emphasized that "the inadequacy of the best interest test in this limited circumstance [intact biological families] does not change or modify existing principles regarding the use of that test in other family law contexts". Once disruption to the intact family is shown, the analysis properly shifts to the best interest of the child. *Von Eiff v Azicri*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 2177 The requirement that the Court consider the six factors when determining the best interest of the child standard and the requirement of mediation prior to an award of visitation, obviates the arbitrariness of the statute. *King v. King*, 828 S.W 2d 630 (Ky. 1992), cert. denied, 506 U.S.901 (1992) See §752.01(2), *Fla. Stat.* (1993)

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